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November 1, 2023 
 
Mr. Travis Nicholson 
Director, Dallas District Office 
U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 
207 S. Houston Street 
Dallas, TX 75202 
 
Re: Request for Investigation of Southwest Airlines Co. 
 
Dear Director Nicholson, 
 
America First Legal Foundation (“AFL”) is a national, nonprofit organization working 
to protect the rule of law, due process, and equal protection for all Americans.  
 
We write according to 29 C.F.R. § 1601.6(a), which provides that, “Any person or 
organization may request the issuance of a Commissioner charge for an inquiry into 
individual or systemic discrimination.” AFL hereby requests the Equal Employment 
Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) open an investigation into Southwest Airlines Co. 
(“Southwest”) for engaging in unlawful employment practices in violation of Title VII 
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2.1.1  
 
Southwest is a publicly traded corporation under your jurisdiction, having its 
headquarters at 2702 Love Field Drive, Dallas, Texas. Title VII of the Civil Rights 
Act of 1964 prohibits Southwest from discriminating against an employee or an 
applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin; to 
limit, segregate, or classify employees or applicants in any way which would deprive 
or tend to deprive any individual of employment opportunities or otherwise adversely 
affect his status as an employee, because of race, color, religion, sex, or national 
origin; or to discriminate against any individual because of his race, color, religion, 
sex, or national origin in admission to, or employment in, any program established to 
provide apprenticeship or other training. However, Southwest openly 
acknowledges—even touts—its racial, sexual, and gender discrimination in its 
recruitment and hiring programs.2  

 
1 Copies of this letter are also addressed to each Member of the Commission and AFL makes the same 
request of them according to 29 C.F.R. § 1601.6(a). 
2 We note that 42 U.S.C. § 1981 prohibits racial discrimination in the making, performance, 
modification, and termination of contracts, and in the enjoyment of all benefits, privileges, terms, and 
conditions of the contractual relationship; the statute applies to all phases and incidents of the 
contractual relationship. Comcast Corp. v. Nat’l Ass’n of Afr. Am.-Owned Media, 140 S. Ct. 1009, 1020 
(2020) (Ginsburg, J., concurring). Nevertheless, Southwest admits favoring some suppliers over others 
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I. Evidence of Unlawful Employment Practices 
 
Since at least 2020, Southwest has engaged in discriminatory hiring and promotion 
processes under the guise of creating “more diverse, equitable, and inclusive 
opportunities and candidate pipelines.”3 Southwest readily admits that, in 2020, it 
set a goal of “[d]oubling the percentage of racial diversity and increasing gender 
diversity in our Senior Management Committee (Executives) by 2025 as compared to 
2020” and “[i]ncreasing diversity in Senior Leadership as compared to 2020.”4 
Southwest’s stated goals in 2020 were to have 20% “Racial/Ethnic Diversity” in its 
Senior Management Committee by 2025 and 16% “Racial/Ethnic Diversity” in Senior 
Leadership by the same 2025.5 Similarly, its stated goals in 2020 were to have 30% 
female membership in its Senior Management Committee by 2025 and 35% female 
membership in Senior Leadership by that same year.6 
 
Southwest is following through on its promise to engage in discriminatory race-based 
and gender-based hiring practices through its use of explicit quotas, all in the name 
of “Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion.” Specifically, and as described in Southwest’s 
2022 One Report: 
 

● Out of Southwest’s 18,000 new hires in 2022 “63% were racially diverse, 
increasing [its] overall racial diversity from 40% in 2021 to 44%.”7  
 

● Additionally, out of those 18,000 new hires, 51% were women, thus “increasing 
[its] gender diversity from 43% in 2021 to 44%.”8 
 

● From 2020 to 2022, “[a]mong Senior Leadership (Directors and Senior 
Directors), racial diversity increased from 15% to 17%” and “gender diversity 
has increased from 33% to 37%.”9 
 

● From 2020 to 2022, Southwest “increased the racial diversity of [its] Senior 
Management Committee (SMC) Members by two percentage points.”10  
 

 
 

based solely on their immutable characteristics and discriminating based on race, color, national 
origin, religion, and sex in procurement. SOUTHWEST AIRLINES CO., SOUTHWEST AIRLINES 2022 
DIVERSITY, EQUITY, & INCLUSION REPORT at 16 (Apr. 22, 2022), https://tinyurl.com/2xvxkezw (last 
visited Oct. 19, 2023). 
3 SOUTHWEST AIRLINES 2022 DIVERSITY, EQUITY, & INCLUSION REPORT at 20. 
4 Id. 
5 Id. 
6 Id. 
7 SOUTHWEST AIRLINES CO., 2022 ONE REPORT at 12 (Apr. 22, 2022), https://tinyurl.com/3z6k6nma (last 
visited October 19, 2023). 
8 Id. 
9 Id. 
10 Id. 
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II. The Commission Should Investigate Southwest 
 
Southwest’s “DEI” hiring and promotion practices facially violate 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-
2(a)(2), which prohibits hiring practices that limit, segregate, or classify applicants 
for employment because of race, color, sex, or national origin in violation of the 
statute. Decades of case law have held that — no matter how well-intentioned — 
quotas and employment practices aimed to achieve such “balancing” are strictly 
prohibited. Students for Fair Admissions, 143 S. Ct. 2141 (2023); Bostock v. Clayton 
County, Georgia, 140 S. Ct. 1731 (2020); see also United Steelworkers of America v. 
Weber, 443 U.S. 193, 208 (1979); Johnson v. Transp. Agency, 480 U.S. 616, 632 (1987).  
 
Southwest’s unlawful employment practices are also deeply harmful. Discrimination 
based on immutable characteristics such as race, color, national origin, or sex 
“generates a feeling of inferiority as to their status in the community that may affect 
their hearts and minds in a way unlikely to ever be undone.”11 More broadly, the 
discrimination highlighted in this case necessarily foments contention and 
resentment, it is “odious and destructive.”12 It truly “is a sordid business, this 
divvying us up” by race, color, national origin, or sex.13  
 
Thank you in advance for your consideration. Please feel free to contact me if you 
have any questions.  
 
 

Sincerely,  
 
/s/ Ian D. Prior 
Senior Advisor 
America First Legal Foundation 
 

 
Cc: The Honorable Charlotte A. Burrows, Commission Chair 
 The Honorable Jocelyn Samuels, Commission Vice Chair 

The Honorable Keith E. Sonderling, Commissioner 
The Honorable Andrea R. Lucas, Commissioner 
The Honorable Kalpana Kotagal, Commissioner 

 
11 Brown v. Bd. of Ed., 347 U.S. 484, 494 (1954). 
12 Texas v. Johnson, 491 U.S. 397, 418 (1989). 
13 League of United Latin Am. Citizens v. Perry, 548 U.S. 399, 511 (2006) (Roberts, C.J., concurring in 
part). 
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